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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of E-Rental Car Company
Limited (“E-Rental Car” or the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively “the Group”), | am pleased to present
the Group’s final results for the year ended 31 December 2015
(the “Year”).

The Group expedited its strategic transformation and actively
implemented its business reorganization. The Company
also constantly evaluated its business strategies and the
performance of the business operations of the Group. We
are dedicated not only to developing the Group’s existing
businesses but also actively pursuing business diversification
to generate new avenues for growth and to improve the
overall financial profile of the Group in the long run. To
achieve this objective, the Company continued to venture
into the car rental business and officially changed its name to
“E-Rental Car Company Limited” in June 2015. Furthermore,
the Group also diversified into the financing services business
in Hong Kong and has, through a wholly-owned subsidiary,
successfully applied and obtained a money lenders licence
under the money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) in October 2015 and commenced the provision
of financing services during the Year.

We believe that sophistication is one of the cores of business
success. To optimize the value of the Group and its existing
assets, the Group disposed of part of its consumer electronic
devices/platforms and related solution/services business during
the Year (through the disposal of its entire interests in two
subsidiaries engaged in the sales of digital signal processing
based consumer electronic devices/platforms (including
embedded firmware)) which had been sustaining losses over
the past few years.

During the Year, to strengthen the Group’s financial capability
and flexibility and to facilitate our business expansion,
the Company raised funds in an aggregate amount of
approximately HK$533 million, through placing of new shares
of the Company. Apart from diversifying into the financing
services business as mentioned above, the Group further
expanded its electronic components/materials business during
the Year.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to further invest and
expand its existing businesses while simultaneously, explore
the possibility of entry into different potential subjects of
“Internet Plus”, in order to build a diversified business portfolio
for widening its revenue streams and allow for a smooth future
development.

Lastly, | would like to take this opportunity to extend my
sincere gratitude to our management and staff for their
unwavering dedication and contribution to the Group’s
development. | would also like to express my gratitude to all
shareholders, directors and business partners for their ongoing
support. We will continue to strive for excellence with a view
to generating sustainable returns to our shareholders.

Ms. Deng Shufen
Chairman and Executive Director

24 March 2016
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW
Car rental business

During the Year, the Company continued to venture into
the car rental business which is considered to be always
in demand and have growth potential. Amidst the existing
fleet size of bRz &L ABEHEHF R & £ 2 A (Beijing Tu An
Car Rental Services Limited*) (“Beijing Tu An”), an indirect,
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company in the PRC and is
principally engaged in car rental services business, reaching
its full utilization, the Group had further invested approximately
HK$20 million in Beijing Tu An to expand its fleet size,
network coverage and services. For the year ended 31
December 2015, revenue from the Group’s car rental segment
recorded approximately HK$24.6 million. The Group had
successfully completed a subscription transaction of US$5
million (approximately HK$39 million) for approximately 10%
of the equity interest in Prime Elite Ventures Limited (“Prime
Elite”) during the Year. “AATAE " (AA Car Rental*), an online
car rental application of Prime Elite launched in 2013, is a
mobile internet-based intelligent car rental platform, which
provides users with chauffeured car services anytime and
anywhere. With its headquarters in Beijing, the “AA Car Rental”
service network covers sixteen cities which include Beijing,
Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Shanghai, Dalian and Shijiazhuang.
For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group’s strategic
investment in Prime Elite had provided the Group with (i) fair
value gain of approximately HK$1.2 million recognised as
other comprehensive income; as well as (ii) business synergies
whereby, as at 31 December 2015, a total of 29 vehicles
operated by Beijing Tu An were rented to “AA Car Rental”
under long term rental contracts which provided stable returns
to the Group.

*

For identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEWR O

Electronic components/materials business

Since the electronic components/materials business has
been a stable income source, the Group had allocated more
resources and investment for the expansion in this segment.
For the year ended 31 December 2015, revenue from the
Group’s trading of electronic components/materials segment
increased from approximately HK$193.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2014, to approximately HK$240.4 million.
The Group also recorded gross profit and gross profit margin
from this segment of approximately HK$10.8 million and 4.5%
respectively.

Consumer electronic devices/platforms and
related solutions/services business

The consumer electronic devices/platforms and related
solutions/services business continued to make a loss during
the Year. To optimise the value of the Group and its assets,
the Company had commenced streamlining and reorganising
its existing assets and disposed of its entire interests in
two operating subsidiaries engaged in the research, design,
development and sale of digital signal processing based
consumer electronic devices/platforms on 29 April 2015. For
the year ended 31 December 2015, revenue from this segment
decreased by 85% to approximately HK$4.1 million, from
approximately HK$28.1 million in 2014.

Financing services business

The Company had, through a wholly-owned subsidiary,
applied for and in October 2015 successfully obtained a
money lenders licence under the Money Lenders Ordinance
(Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong) to conduct money
lending business in Hong Kong through the provision of loans.
The Company will strive to gain position in the financing
services market by providing flexible, convenient and tailor-
made services to raise accessibility to the Group’s financing
services. As the provision of financing services was still in early
stage, revenue generated from this segment only contributed
approximately 2% to the Group’s total revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2015.

Annual Report 2015 =& — A F £ 4§

ETEMH MHEE

HREFTH  MHEBREEBTE ZWAK
B AEBESRELZERUNIEERREZD
He-BE_ZT—RAFT_A=+T—HLEE "
REFBEESFTH M B2 BmHEE
—E-NFE+ A=+ HLEFEHENY
193,500,000/ 7T # & £ 7 & £9240,400,000
B o AEBMBEEZOBZENREMNES
A14910,800,000 7 7T & 4.5% °

HEBETFHRM FEREBEBRER
/IR

HEETFHEM T RBEBRIRRIEE
BRAFEFERISERE RELELAEERRE
BEZEE ARQRAEBEFHLELREHERE
BE YWR-_Z—HEFMWA-_t+LALEEE
ERBEMNEREEEBETEM TA0OH
FoRET AEREEOMBLERBATZ
rEER BE-_E-—AFE+-_A=1+—HI1t
FE KBRS HHWEHE T —OFEHSEN
#728,100,000 % 7T > 85% Z 474,100,000 78
T e

ETRRBEK

ARRAR-ZE—RAF+ARNBEBERERZE
B8 2 B B AR I S DA ARG (BB IEHI 5
163 )BT ZMEARR  thBEBRHEE
BTREBEBETHEERD - ARAEHANRAR
SEBEFHALBEBEHREE TEREFZE
BRGAESREFHNREMA - ARBELL
EBPRELESEE  HRSERASEEE
—E-AFtT A=+t HALEFEZAREY
2% °



Management Discussion and Analysis

FUTURE OUTLOOK

With an increasing growth in the tourism industry in China and
the benefits that car rental services can offer, including greater
mobility without the need to pay the relatively higher costs
associated with car ownership and the freedom to choose
cars based on requirements and budget, the use of car rental
services is expected to become more and more popular and
a rise in demand is anticipated. The Group will continue to
explore the development of its online car rental business in the
car rental market. As access to financing services is crucial
to business and economic growth, the provision of financing
services has potential for high growth and can be sustainable.
The Group seeks to grasp on potential business opportunities
by strategically tapping into the financial services industry. The
Group looks forward to further expanding its income streams
and smoothing the road for future development through the
provision of a wider array of comprehensive services.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Results of the Group
Revenue

The revenue of the Group increased by approximately 24%
from approximately HK$222.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2014 to approximately HK$275.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2015. As mentioned in the section
headed “BUSINESS REVIEW”, the increase was mainly resulted
from (i) the increase in sales of goods from approximately
HK$205.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2014
to approximately HK$242.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2015, due to the shift of business focus to the
trading of electronic components/materials; (ii) the full year
results from the car rental business which contributed revenue
of approximately HK$24.6 million; and (iii) the decrease in
revenue from the consumer electronic devices/platforms and
related solution/services segment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Cost of sales

Cost of sales of the Group increased by approximately 22%
from approximately HK$205.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2014 to approximately HK$251.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2015. The increase was mainly
attributable to the increase in sales of electronic components/
materials during the Year.

Gross profit and margin

The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately HK$23.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2015, representing
an increase of approximately 41% as compared to the gross
profit recorded in the prior year. The gross profit margin
increased slightly by approximately 1.1 percentage points from
7.6% in 2014 to 8.7% in the Year. The increase was resulted
from the financing services business, which had higher profit
margin.

Other income and gains

Other income and gains of the Group increased by
approximately 273%, from approximately HK$8.0 million for
the year ended 31 December 2014 to approximately HK$29.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2015. The increase
was mainly resulted from the income in relation to certain
procurement/credit/investment arrangements as well as
waivers of other borrowings recognised during the Year.

Research and development costs

Research and development costs decreased by approximately
42% from approximately HK$2.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2014 to approximately HK$1.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2015, mainly due to the disposal of
certain subsidiaries under the consumer electronic devices/
platforms segment and related solution/services segment,
coupled with the decrease in the number of research and
development projects after the implementation of the cost-
saving measures during the Year.

Annual Report 2015 =& — A F £ 4§

HERK

AEBNHEHERABBEE_T—WE+_A
=+ —HIEFE 4 205,300,000 TG A4
RN EBE_T-AFT_A=T—BLHFE
) #47251,500,000/8 7T © $R1G TR E 2N A
FEBTFZM  MEHERABFEM -

EFREFFE

HE-_Z—AF+-_A=+—HLEFE &
% F %15 £ F 49 23,800,000 7 7T+ 8 & F i
SREMNEALN41% - EFEH T —UF
M76%HAEEANIAIEESBEARAFED
8.7% - EREIEERMEAR S BN XN AR
TEETEFTE ©

Bt RA R WK az

AEBHEMRARKSEHBEZE - —NF
+ZA=+—HLFEH 48,000,000 1%
Mo73% EHE—E—RAE+—A=+—81IF
FEMK 29,800,000 7T - BAAREZAR
AFEEBHRBAETEERE B /KRELRHZ
WA LA R i ZE E At fE B FTER o

HERBEREE

MAMHAEXABEBEE-_FT-—HNF+=A
=+ — R IEF E 42,600,000 7T 24
RHEBE_T-AF+_A=T—BHILFE
B %71,5600,0008 7T FEHNHEETHE
ErHRM/ TaoBRABBEBRTRIREH
BHBRARANRAFEEITRARBAEMEL
MEEIRE BB ARTRD AT °



Management Discussion and Analysis
BEENWE DN

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses decreased by approximately
55% from approximately HK$14.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2014 to approximately HK$6.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2015, mainly due to the cost saving
effect from the disposal of certain subsidiaries under the
consumer electronic devices/platforms and related solution/
services segment.

General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses increased by
approximately 56% from approximately HK$25.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2014 to approximately HK$39.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2015, mainly due

to the extra cost incurred as a result of business expansion
during the Year.

Other expenses, net

Other expenses, net, decreased by approximately 96% from
approximately HK$26 million for the year ended 31 December
2014 to approximately HK$0.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2015 mainly due to the reduction of impairment/
write-off of trade and other receivables.

Finance costs

Finance costs increased from approximately HK$0.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2014 to approximately HK$1.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2015, mainly due to
the drawdown of certain new interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings utilised to finance the purchase of certain motor
vehicles for the car rental business during the Year.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense decreased from approximately HK$3.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2014 to approximately
HK$2.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2015, mainly
due to the reversal of deferred tax asset in the prior year.
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Liquidity and financial resources RBESRMBEER
2015 2014
—E-HF —F—NF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
(Restated)
(&E7))
Current assets mENEE 848,271,180 309,959,152
Current liabilities MENEE 80,401,723 131,845,443
Current ratio BN 10.55 2.35

As at 31 December 2015, cash and cash equivalents of the
Group amounted to approximately HK$5.1 million (2014:
HK$8.1 million).

In view of the Group’s current level of cash and cash
equivalents, funds generated internally from our operations
and from the corporate actions completed during the Year, the
Board is confident that the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to meet its debt repayment and financing needs for
its operations for the foreseeable future.

N-ZE—RE+-_A=+—H A£EEHNRS
LR 4&EEWL A5,100,0008 T(=ZF —
£ 18,100,000 7T) °

ERIAKERERE KRS FEWHKFE
REBRMEEARRAFEE KM A RTT
BENES  ESQREAKEERMNME
BRNENBRZEREREMRKEBERD

REBE -

Gearing ratio EXEEHLER
2015 2014
—E—-EfF —ET—F
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Total interest-bearing bank and FTERITREMEER

other borrowings FEEE 31,513,733 13,697,445
Equity M 930,867,080 301,941,139
Gearing ratio BEARGELE 3.4% 4.5%

As at 31 December 2015, the gearing ratio is 3.4% (2014:
4.5%). As at 31 December 2015, the maturity profile of the
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group falling
due within one year, and the second year, inclusive, amounted
to approximately HK$26.1 million (2014: HK$8.4 million) and
HK$5.4 million (2014: HK$5.3 million), respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Capital structure

The capital of the Company comprises only ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each (the “Shares”). As at 31 December 2015,
the total number of issued Shares was 6,481,375,000 (with
an aggregate nominal value of HK$64,813,750). The total
number of issued Shares had been changed during the Year
as follows:

EEENWmE DN

BEXRE

AABNEAEBREEROOIBTZERK
(T®RB) - R=—F—RF+=-A=+—R" B
BEITRR D 4285 6,481,375,000 A% (EIE 4258 A&
64,813,750 70) - BETRHODBENAFE
ZEEBIT

No. of Shares
R H

1 January 2015

Add: (1)
(In

an ()
(1

Connected Placing
Exercise of Options granted pursuant to
the Connected Placing

2015 Placing

(I11) (I11)

—E—RF—HA—H

4,081,375,000

B il &S I8 1,500,000,000
TEREEEREEE

= B 400,000,000
—E-hFREEE 500,000,000

31 December 2015

—E—HAF¥+-A=+—H

6,481,375,000

() On 26 March 2015, the Company entered into a placing
agreement (the “Connected Placing Agreement”) with
Sheng Yuan Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent”)
pursuant to which the Company agreed to (i) place,
through the Placing Agent, an aggregate of up to
1,500,000,000 new ordinary shares (the “Connected
Placing Shares”) of HK$0.01 each in the Company
at the placing price of HK$0.26 per Connected
Placing Share to Sino Merchant Car Rental Limited
(“Sino Merchant”) (the controlling shareholder and a
connected person of the Company); and (i) grant to
Sino Merchant, at an aggregate nominal consideration
of HK$1, options (the “Options”) which carry rights to
subscribe for up to a total of 800,000,000 new ordinary
shares (the “Option Shares”) of HK$0.01 each in
the Company at the initial exercise price of HK$0.26
per Option Share (subject to adjustments) upon the
terms and conditions contained in the Connected
Placing Agreement (the “Connected Placing”). The
completion of the Connected Placing Agreement
took place on 15 June 2015 which resulted in (i) an
aggregate of 1,500,000,000 Connected Placing Shares
(with aggregate nominal value of HK$15,000,000)
being allotted and issued to Sino Merchant; and (i) the
Options being granted to Sino Merchant. The closing
price of each Share as quoted on 26 March 2015 (being
the date of the Connected Placing Agreement) was
HK$0.305 and the net proceeds raised per Share was
approximately HK$0.257.
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(1) On 2 July 2015, Sino Merchant partially exercised the
Options granted pursuant to the Connected Placing
Agreement to subscribe for 400,000,000 Option Shares
(with aggregate nominal value of HK$4,000,000). As
at 31 December 2015, Sino Merchant had remaining
Options which carry rights to subscribe for up to a total
of 400,000,000 Option Shares.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 26 March 2015, 18 May 2015, 15 June 2015 and
2 July 2015 and the circular of the Company dated 28
April 2015 for details.

(1 On 7 July 2015, the Company entered into a conditional
placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) with
an independent placing agent whereby the Company
conditionally agreed to place, through the placing
agent, on a best effort basis, up to 500,000,000 placing
shares to not less than six independent placees at a
price of HK$0.3 per placing share (the “2015 Placing”).
The maximum number of 500,000,000 placing shares
(with aggregate nominal value of HK$5,000,000) were
successfully placed upon completion of the 2015
Placing on 3 August 2015.

The closing price of each Share as quoted on 7 July
2015 (being the date of the Placing Agreement) was
HK$0.330 and the net proceeds raised per Share was
approximately HK$0.296.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 10 July 2015 and 3 August 2015 for details.

Disposal of subsidiaries

On 29 April 2015, the Company, Perception Digital
Technology (BVI) Limited (“PDT”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, and Atom Xquare Corporation Limited (the
“Purchaser”) entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the
“Disposal Agreement”), pursuant to which (i) the Purchaser
agreed to purchase and the Company agreed to sell the entire
issued share capital of Ace Legend International Limited (the
“First Target Company”) for a consideration of US$1.00;
and (i) the Purchaser agreed to purchase and PDT agreed
to sell the entire issued share capital of Perception Digital
Limited (the “Second Target Company”) for a consideration
of HK$67,690 (collectively, the “Disposals”). The Disposals,
which constituted discloseable transactions for the Company
under Chapter 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
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of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), were
completed simultaneously upon the signing of the Disposal
Agreement on 29 April 2015. Upon completion of the Disposal
Agreement, the First Target Company and the Second
Target Company (collectively, the “Disposed Subsidiaries”)
ceased to be subsidiaries of the Company. Please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 29 April 2015 for
details.

On the financial effect of the Disposals on the Group, the
Group at the time of the Disposals expected to record a gain
on disposal of the Disposed Subsidiaries of approximately
HK$0.2 million (as disclosed in the announcement of the
Company on 29 April 2015), representing the estimated
difference between the total consideration for the Disposals
and the aggregate net asset value of the Disposed
Subsidiaries at the date of the Disposals. As a supplement
to the information disclosed on 29 April 2015, following the
Disposals, an exchange reserve arising from the Disposals of
approximately HK$2.8 million was released by the Group to its
profit or loss. As a result, the Group recognised and recorded
a total gain on disposal of the Disposed Subsidiaries of
approximately HK$3.0 million to its profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2015.

Save as the Disposals as disclosed above, there were no
material acquisitions or disposals of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2015.

Use of proceeds from financing activities
during the Year

BEENWNE D

—HERARAKE_MERAR(GHIEHE
WEAT ) TEARARNMBAR - HER
SMARAARMA=E - AFNA=TABMH
INGE

REEFHEUAEE I MBRENS - A5H
RETHESFERERESHERLENB R
7 2 Y %5 47200,000 8 TT(H AR R R - F
—HEFOAZTAANRMAEE)  REE
FHZBREERNEEFEARKLENBER
FZREEFECHEEZR HW_T—AF
MAZ+HhBEMEEZMAER  BHESRE
% ARFEREBEREA ARLEEE &
2 HME 7% #5 492,800,000 7T © E UL - KNE&
EEREEBZE _ZE—AF+-_A=+—HIF
BEZBRENERRESHERHENB AR
#BUER £ 3,000,000 7T ©

BREXHBEZ HEEEN  ARERE-T
—RE+=A=+— B FEEEA KR
i o

REAFERMETBHFRERERERE
Actual use of

proceeds as at
31 December

Net proceeds 2015
Date of the Fund raising raised R-BE—RE+=
announcement  activity EECFB Intended use of proceeds B=+—HFBXR
A A £EEH MIEFH FBREZRERZ B EBBRAZ
26 March 2015 Connected Approximately (i) approximately HK$250.25 Fully applied as
—E—hF=A Placing HK$385 million million to expand the car intended
—+XH BBl EEIR #9385,000,000 & rental business; T AR TEEE

7T () #1250,250,000 B THEER R

EEE A

(i) approximately HK$96.25
million to expand the trading
of electronic components/
materials business; and

(i) #996,250,000 T AEERE
FEH MHESEL &
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Actual use of
proceeds as at
31 December

Net proceeds 2015
Date of the Fund raising raised RZEBE-HE+=
announcement  activity EE2PB Intended use of proceeds B=+—HBMBX
AfEEE £EES MR FBREZRERR BeERRR
(i) approximately HK$38.50
million for general working
capital
(i) #938,500,000 & TTAIE— K&
EE®
2 July 2015 Exercise of Approximately To improve working capital of Fully applied as
—T—HF Options by Sino  HK$104 million the Group intended
+A=H Merchant #1104,000,000 HEAEEZ -—RLEED R TE RS BBIE
ERHEBTEER BT A
1
10 July 2015 2015 Placing Approximately (i) approximately HK$135 million Fully applied as
—ZT—hHE —ARFRESE HK$148 million to further expand the trading intended
+A+H 18 #3148,000,000 of the electronic components/ 1%t A& B EUE
BT materials business; and =5

(if)
(if)

Foreign currency exposure

The foreign currency exposure of the Group primarily arises
from revenue or income generated, cost and expenses
incurred, and certain bank and other borrowings denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the Group’s
operating units. For the Group’s operating units that have
United States dollar (“US$”) and Renminbi (‘RMB”) as their
functional currency, their foreign currency transactions and the
units’ monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that were translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling as at 31 December 2015 were mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The Group expected that
the exposure to exchange rates fluctuation was not significant
and therefore had not engaged in any hedging activities.
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Charges on the Group’s assets

As at 31 December 2015, certain of the Group’s bank loan
and other borrowings were secured by the pledge of the
Group's time deposit of approximately HK$18.8 million (2014:
Nil) and certain of the Group’s motor vehicles of approximately
HK$21.4 million (2014: HK$15.8 million (restated)),
respectively. As at 31 December 2014, certain of the Group’s
other payable were also secured by the pledge of the Group’s
motor vehicles of approximately HK$8.4 million (restated).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2015, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities (2014: Nil).

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil).

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

It is proposed that the annual general meeting of the Company
will be held on Friday, 3 June 2016 (the “AGM”). The notice
of the AGM will be despatched to the shareholders of the
Company and available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 1 June 2016 to Friday, 3 June 2016, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfers of shares shall
be effected. In order to qualify for attending the forthcoming
AGM, all transfer of shares, accompanied by the relevant
share certificates and transfer forms, must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 31 May 2016.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2015, the Group employed a total of 28
(2014: 53) employees. Total staff costs, including Directors’
emoluments, amounted to approximately HK$21 million for the
Year (2014: approximately HK$14 million).
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Executive Directors

Ms. Deng Shufen, aged 51, has been appointed as an
Executive Director since 16 July 2014. She is also the
Chairman and an Authorised Representative of the Company.
She has served as the general manager and the vice-chairman
of the board of directors of Huashang Group Company Limited
(ZEmE®EBEMRAA) since 1993 and the deputy general
manager of China Wood (Group) Company Limited* (FEIK
#(&EB)ARAT) since 2006. Ms. Deng was also appointed
as the general manager of the legal department of China
Leasing Company Limited* (FREMEARAR]) in 2003 and
the vice-chairman of the board of directors of Jiangxi Juye
Asset Management Company Limited* IR %(&EEIER
FfR/A 7)) in 2006. She graduated from Jiangxi University (later
reorganized as Nanchang University) with a bachelor degree of
Law. Ms. Deng is the spouse of Mr. Dai Yumin, an Executive
Director and the President of the Company. Ms. Deng is also
one of the controlling shareholders of the Company by virtue
of (i) the equity interest held by her in Sino Merchant Car
Rental Limited (“Sino Merchant”), the entire issued share
capital of which is owned as to 60% by Ms. Deng and 40% by
Ms. Liu Jiangyuan (an Executive Director); and (ii) her deemed
interests in certain issued shares in the Company held by
her spouse, Mr. Dai Yumin (an Executive Director) under the
provisions of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”).

Mr. Dai Yumin, aged 55, has been appointed as an Executive
Director since 16 July 2014 and is the President of the
Company. He has also served as the director, chairman of
the board of directors and the group president of Zhongjing
Holdings Company Limited* (fF & 4Z i B [R A &) ) since 1993
and the executive director and the compliance officer of China
Regenerative Medicine International Limited (FF B & 4 % 2
B AR AT), a company listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Stock Exchange, since 2009. He is currently
the chairman of the board of directors of Shaanxi Ruisheng
Biological Technology Company Limited* ([ 78 ¥ &% 4 ¥ &
AR A7) and Shenzhen Ainier Cornea Engineering Co., Ltd.*
CRYINERARE TRABR A F)and the legal representative
of China Wood (Group) Company Limited* (ff B AR+ (£ 2 )
ARRAR). Mr. Dai also served as the director, the head of
reorganization management committee and the president
of China Leasing Company Limited* (T B E B R A 7 ).
He graduated from Beijing Youth Enterprise Management
College (4t RE F ¥ B R & E 7 ) with a bachelor degree

*

For identification purpose only
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of Finance. Mr. Dai is the spouse of Ms. Deng Shufen, the
Chairman and an Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Dai
is also one of the controlling shareholders of the Company by
virtue of (i) the equity interests held by his spouse, Ms Deng
Shufen, in Sino Merchant; and (i) his personal interests held in
certain issued shares in the Company under the provisions of
Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Gui Bin, aged 51, had been appointed an Executive
Director of the Company since 16 July 2014. He is currently
the chairman of board of directors of Shenzhen Jinkunda
Investment Company Limited* G & tHE1 & AR A A)) and
Shenzhen Hengtairui Industrial Company Limited* GEIIITH = 2=

mEXARRF]).

Ms. Liu Jiangyuan, aged 35, has been appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company since 16 July 2014. Ms.
Liu also assumed various positions such as the executive
director of Chenxin Asset Management Company Limited”
(BRFEBEEEIEAMR AR )and the assistant to the president of
China Aviation Finance Limited (FEfiZ= & /AR A 7). She
graduated from Dalian University of Foreign Language with a
bachelor degree of English.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fang Jun, aged 53, has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
16 July 2014. He is also the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. He has also served
as the executive member and the executive vice-chairman
of the Cross-straits Medicine Exchange Association of the
National Health and Family Planning Commission of the PRC*
(PEARKNMBBERGEENAEEEFZESBRMEEEEE
TmthE ), the executive member and the vice-chairman of
China Sexology Association (R B|1££2& ), the publisher and
the executive chief editor of the China Sexology Journal* ({
TERIZ)) and the deputy head of the Sexology Research Center
of Peking University Health Science Center* (it ;i A 2258 E2 &R
BistH D). Mr. Fang also assumed various positions such as
the executive member and the secretary general of Wu Jieping
Medical Foundation(REFEEEEZ). He graduated from
Peking University Health Science Center with a master degree
of Social Medicine and Health Service Management and a
doctor degree of Epidemiology and Health Statistics.

*

For identification purpose only
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Mr. Wong Yiu Kit, Ernest, aged 48, has been appointed as
an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
16 July 2014. He is also the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company. He has served as the
president and the group chief financial officer of KVB Kunlun
Holdings Limited (its subsidiary, KVB Kunlun Financial Group
Limited, is listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the
Stock Exchange) since 2011. Mr. Wong has also served as
the independent non-executive director of Renheng Enterprise
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange) since 2011 and the non-executive director
of Adamas Finance Asia Ltd (formerly known as China Private
Equity Investment Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Alternative Investment Market of London Stock Exchange Plc.
and Frankfurt Stock Exchange) since 2014. He also assumed
various positions such as the executive director and the chief
financial officer of China Private Equity Investment Holdings
Limited, the chief financial officer of Hong Kong Applied Science
and Technology Research Institute Company Limited, the vice-
president of Vertex Management (HK)., the manager and head
of supervision of the business department of Guangdong
Investment Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange) and the portfolio manager of Transpac Capital
Ltd. Mr. Wong graduated from the University of Hong Kong with
a bachelor degree of Business Administration. He also obtained
a master degree of Science in Investment Management from
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and a
master degree of Science in Electronic Engineering from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an
associate member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. Mr. Wong is also a charter-holder of
Chartered Financial Analyst and a member of Hong Kong
Securities Institute.

Mr. Zhao Xianming, aged 39, has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since 16
July 2014. He is also the Chairman of the Audit Committee,
and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company. He assumed various
positions such as the supervisor of the legal and auditorial
center of Fanhua Construction Group Limited* (ZEZERXREEAF
R/ @]), the general legal counsel, the vice-president and the
board secretary of China Agritech Inc. (a company listed on
the NASDAQ Stock Market). He graduated from China Foreign
Affairs University with a master degree of International Law and
is a certified enterprise risk manager.

*

For identification purpose only
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance
report for the year ended 31 December 2015. This report
highlights the key corporate governance practices of the
Company.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company acknowledges the importance of good
corporate governance practices and procedures and regards
a pre-eminent board of directors, sound internal controls and
accountability to all shareholders as the core elements of its
corporate governance principles. The Company endeavours
to ensure that its businesses are conducted in accordance
with rules and regulations, and applicable codes and
standards. The Company has adopted the Code Provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”).

The Board reviews at least annually the corporate governance
practices of the Company to ensure its continuous compliance
with the Code, and make appropriate changes if considered
necessary. The Company was in compliance with the
applicable code provisions in the Code (the “Code Provision”)
for the year ended 31 December 2015. The following sections
set out the principles in the Code as they have been applied
by the Company, including any deviations therefrom, for the
year under review.

Board

The Company is governed by the Board, which is responsible
for overseeing the overall strategy and development of the
Company, as well as monitoring the internal control policies
and evaluating the financial performance of the Group. The
Board sets the overall strategies and directions for the Group
with a view to developing its business and enhancing the
shareholders’ value.

As at 31 December 2015, the Board comprises four executive
Directors and three Independent Non-executive Directors (the
“INEDs”). During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Board held a total of 5 meetings.

TERERBE

EEZEMARINBE_T—AF+_A=1+—
BLEFENGEERRS - ABSAENEALR
AMEREEEREMR

TEERESR

ARARPARBEXEERERLEFNER
M BERLNESES  RENAREE [
ERBEREBEDNEXEARAINZLEER - K
REBNEREFXGETARBR LR - A
EEABERTRREE - RARRMTEHS
R BRABES TR ERRA D)
FfsE+rprEl bR E A ST RIS R D) B9 57 B
K o

EFZERFEIRIARANEEE AT R —
R AERARB —EBTTHERBERS
FERBFLEEENR - ARARNBE_FT—H
Ft-_A=T-"BLFEA—BEETERNT
AMEX(TF AR ) » IA T BB AR RN
CEFERATANRE  SREEARRESER -

EEg

ARBHEFTEER EFQRRAEEAR
AIMERREMER  ARERAEEBR
REHEARKENMBERER - EFSHITAKHE
MEBRRERIEH UNEREBLRESBRRE
A -

R_E—hAF+_A=+—H ESgREN
NHTEEN =B UFATEET(BLEH
TEED -REBEE_ZT—AF+_-_A=1+—H
IFER  EFTGHBITEREH °

E-Rental Car Company Limited EfA B B 4FHES R A 7

@



@

Corporate Governance Report
TEERBE

During the Year, the attendance of each Director is set out

TR BEFHHEBEROT

below:

Attendance
Directors £E HEER
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Deng Shufen (Chairman) BOmS () 5/5
Mr. Dai Yumin (President) BT E(ER) 5/5
Mr. Gui Bin b 3/5
Ms. Liu Jiangyuan B TELZ+ 5/5
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Wang Yongbin (retired on 26 June 2015) TRWAE(R_T—RAF A=+ BEME) 0/3
Independent Non-executive Directors BYKHITES
Mr. Fang Jun 7B AE 5/5
Mr. Wong Yiu Kit, Ernest IR E 5/5
Mr. Zhao Xianming BT A 5/5

Ms. Deng Shufen (the Chairman of the Group and an Executive
Director) is the spouse of Mr. Dai Yumin (the President of
the Group and an Executive Director). Save as disclosed, the
members of the Board have no financial, business, family or
other relationships with each other.

During the Year, the INEDs provided the Company with a
wide range of expertise and a balance of skills and brought
independent judgment on issues of strategic direction,
development, performance and risk management through their
contribution at Board meetings and Committee meetings.
Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has complied with the requirements under Rules
3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing Rules. The former Rule requires
that every board of directors of a listed issuer must include at
least three INEDs and the latter Rule requires that at least one
of the INEDs must have appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise.
All INEDs also meet the guidelines for assessment of their
independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Further, up to the date of this report, the Board has not been
aware of the occurrence of any events which would cause it to
believe that their independence has been impaired.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company has received from each INED an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the Company still considers such Directors
to be independent. The INEDs are explicitly identified in all
corporate communications. The day-to-day running of the
Company is delegated to the management.

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration
matters covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy, annual
operating budget, annual and interim results, recommendations
on Directors’ appointment or re-appointment, material
contracts and transactions as well as other significant policy
and financial matters. The Board has delegated the day-to-day
responsibility to the executive management. The respective
functions of the Board and management of the Company have
been formalised and set out in writing and will be reviewed by
the Board from time to time to ensure that they are consistent
with the existing rules and regulations.

Regular Board meetings each year are scheduled in advance
to facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. At least 14
days’ notice of a Board meeting is normally given to all
Directors who are given an opportunity to include matters for
discussion in the agenda. The Company Secretary assists the
Chairman in preparing the agenda for meetings and ensures
that all applicable rules and regulations are complied with.
The agenda and the accompanying Board papers are normally
sent to all Directors at least 3 days before the intended date
of a regular Board meeting (and so far as practicable for such
other Board meetings). Draft minutes of each Board meeting
are circulated to all Directors for their comments before
being tabled at the following Board meeting for approval. All
minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
Director.
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Directors’ Induction and Continuous
Professional Development

On appointment to the Board, each Director receives
a comprehensive induction package covering business
operations, policy and procedures of the Company as well
as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations of being
a Director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/
her responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant
regulatory requirements.

The Directors are regularly briefed on the amendments to
or updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In
addition, the Company has been encouraging the Directors
and senior executives to enroll in a wide range of professional
development courses and seminars relating to the Listing
Rules, companies ordinance/act and corporate governance
practices organised by professional bodies, independent
auditors and/or chambers in Hong Kong so that they can
continuously update and further improve their relevant
knowledge and skills. From time to time, Directors are
provided with written training materials to develop and refresh
their professional skills.
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Corporate Governance Report

According to the records maintained by the Company, the
Directors received the following training with an emphasis
on the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed
company in compliance with the requirement of the Code on
continuous professional development during the year ended 31
December 2015:

iz fie N/ +
ﬁ'_\ E/ﬁ#&%

REARFFENCTE  BETETRENEE
BEXZEROAE  EFRBE_T-OF 1+
A=+ —HLEFEEXATAER EHRFE
FNAE  BRERBEMNEI

Corporate
Governance,
Regulatory
Development
and Trainings
or other
relevant topics
hEES -

EERRER
IR H A
Directors 2= MHEEE
Executive Directors HITESE
Ms. Deng Shufen B 22+ v
Mr. Dai Yumin MEHELE v
Mr. Gui Bin E Vs v
Ms. Liu Jiangyuan 2IELZ L v/
Independent Non-executive Directors BYKHITES
Mr. Fang Jun B fEEE v
Mr. Wong Yiu Kit, Ernest \mIRLESL A v
Mr. Zhao Xianming HERALE v/

Independent Non-executive Directors

All the INEDs were appointed for a specific term but are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meetings in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company.

BYFUTES
FEBLFRTEESURREMEET 1

BARBARFRABERZMANNBRBFEAS®H
BERENREE -
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Committees

As part of the corporate governance practices, the Board
has established the remuneration committee, nomination
committee, and audit committee. All of the committees are
chaired by and composed of INEDs with terms of reference in
accordance with the principles set out in the Code.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established a remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”) on 27 November 2009
with written terms of reference. As at 31 December 2015, the
Remuneration Committee comprises three INEDs, namely Mr.
Fang Jun, Mr. Wong Yiu Kit, Ernest and Mr. Zhao Xianming.
The committee is chaired by Mr. Wong Yiu Kit, Ernest.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are
formulating remuneration policies, determining the specific
remuneration packages of Executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
Directors. During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Remuneration Committee reviewed and made recommendation
on the remuneration packages of the existing Directors.

Eg
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Details of the remuneration paid to members of the senior AEEENAEBSREREBKE(RIEEE)
management of the Group (including the Directors) by band for ZEMEEMT ¢
the Year are set out below:
Number of

senior management
Remuneration band it o &6 SREBEAY
Below HK$1,000,000 £ 1,000,000 7 7T —
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 & 7T = 1,500,000 %8 7T 4
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During the Year, one Remuneration Committee meeting was FR - FME %@ T7—RE&% - TXET
held and the attendance of each member is set out below: %EJZE\E‘\]tlj}*IE/

Attendance
Committee Member ZE8 HEBR
Mr. Wong Yiu Kit, Ernest (Chairman) ERGEE(EE) 1/1
Mr. Fang Jun 7oREE 11
Mr. Zhao Xianming HEEA LA 1/1

Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”) on 27 November 2009 with
written terms of reference. As at 31 December 2015, the
Nomination Committee comprises three INEDs, namely Mr.
Fang Jun, Mr. Wong Yiu Kit, Ernest and Mr. Zhao Xianming.
The committee is chaired by Mr. Fang Jun.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, formulating
relevant procedures for nomination of directors, identifying
qualified individuals to become members of the Board and
making recommendation to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of directors. During the year ended 31
December 2015,
composition of the Board and made recommendation to the

Board.

the Nomination Committee reviewed the

REZEE

ARAR_ZFZNF+—A-+LAKIEE
EHREREMNREEZER((RBEEEE®) -
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BEERBERELE - TERELERZEZEEN
ESE

m
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T-A=1t—HLHFE REZEERIES
AR RAEETSREES

>~_

IR

During the Year, one Nomination Committee meeting was held  FR - REZZE&8RTT —X&% 0 T
and the attendance of each member is set out below: EREMLEBR

Attendance
Committee Member Z8 HERER
Mr. Fang Jun (Chairman) 5 OEBEEERE) 11
Mr. Wong Yiu Kit, Ernest =RGER A 1/1
Mr. Zhao Xianming HEEA LA 1/1
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Audit committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
comprises all the three INEDs, namely Mr. Zhao Xianming
(chairman), Mr. Fang Jun and Mr. Wong Yiu Kit, Ernest. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to supervise the
internal control policies, the financial reporting systems and
procedures of the Company, to review the financial statements
and reports of the Group, and to review the terms of
engagement and scope of audit work of the external auditors.
The audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2015 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

The Audit Committee has met the external auditors of the
Company, Messrs. Ernst & Young, and reviewed the Group’s
results for the year ended 31 December 2015.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Audit
Committee reviewed the internal control system, as well as the
interim and annual results of the Group, which, in the opinion
of the audit committee, were prepared in compliance with the
applicable accounting standards and the Listing Rules.

During the Year, two Audit Committee meetings were held and
the attendance of each member is set out below:

BEREEE

ARAEZZES([BREEGDEE =4
BIYFATEFTHEERALLE(EZE)  FTkE
ERERGERE BERZEENIZRBRE
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FARBERZEQBRTTMASHE - TXHS
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Attendance
Committee Member £8 HEBR
Mr. Zhao Xianming (Chairman) HEERALEERE) 2/2
Mr. Fang Jun 7o ERE 2/2
Mr. Wong Yiu Kit, Ernest =RE A 2/2
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Corporate Governance Function

The Board does not have a corporate governance committee.
The functions that would be carried out by a corporate
governance committee are performed by the Board as a whole
and are as follows:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and

practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and directors; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The corporate governance policy is formulated with an
emphasis on the Board’s quality, effective internal control,
stringent disclosure practices and transparency and
accountability to all shareholders of the Company. The Board
strives to comply with the code provisions and reviews its
corporate governance policy regularly in order to maintain high
standards of business ethics and corporate governance, and
to ensure the full compliance of our operations with applicable
laws and regulations.

During the Year, members of the Board have reviewed and
discussed, among other things, the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance at regular board meetings.
They have also reviewed and monitored the training and
continuous professional development of directors, and the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements as well as its disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report. The Board has reviewed the
code of conduct applicable to employees and directors setting
out the standards of behavior that the Company expects from
them and the guidelines on how they should handle different
situations in business dealings with the Group.

E-Rental Car Company Limited = %8 & B
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Compliance with the Model Code Set
Out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). The Company
periodically issues notices to the Directors reminding them
of the general prohibition on dealing in the Company’s listed
securities during the blackout periods before the publication
of announcements of results. The Company has confirmed,
having made specific enquiry of the Directors, all the Directors
have complied with the Model Code throughout the period
under review.

Directors’ Responsibility for Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for overseeing
the preparation of the accounts of the Company. The Directors
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Auditors’ Remuneration

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the Company’s financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 is set out
in the section “Independent Auditors’ Report” of this annual
report.

The Group’s external auditors provided the following services
to the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015:
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HK$
BT
Audit services ZE AR TS 1,300,000
Non-audit services* FEIZEAR TS~ 378,000
& The non-audit services mainly comprised review of interim * IEZERTE L E 61T R FE B R R B

financial information and agreed-upon procedure work for a
placing transaction conducted during the Year.
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Internal Control

The Board is responsible for maintaining an effective
internal control system in order to safeguard the interests
of the shareholders and the assets of the Company against
unauthorized use or disposition, ensuring maintenance of
proper books and records for the provision of reliable financial
information, and ensuring compliance with the relevant rules
and regulations.

The audit committee reviewed the overall effectiveness of the
internal control system and reported its findings and made
recommendations to the Board. The Directors have conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
system for the year ended 31 December 2015. The Board will
continue to assess the effectiveness of internal controls by
considering reviews performed by the audit committee and
executive management.

Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”)

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, any
one or more members of the Company holding at the date of
the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of such
of the paid-up capital of the Company as at the date of the
deposit carries the right of voting at general meetings shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and the meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board will be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the

Company.
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Communication with Shareholders and
Procedures for Putting forward Proposals at a
General Meeting

All published information, including all the statutory
announcements and press releases, is promptly posted on the
Group’s website at www.erentalcar.com.hk. Shareholders can
also send enquiries to the Board or the Company Secretary,
and/or proposals to be put forward at shareholders’ meeting
for shareholders’ consideration by email at ir@erentalcar.
com.hk or directly by raising questions at the annual general
meeting of the Company.

Investor Relations

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of
transparency is a key to enhancing investor relations. It
is committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of
corporate information to its shareholders and investment
public.

The Company updates its shareholders on its latest business
developments and financial performance through its annual
and interim reports, announcements and circulars. The
corporate website of the Company (www.erentalcar.com.hk)
has provided an effective communication platform to the public
and the shareholders.

Constitutional Documents

During the Year, there were no changes to the Company’s
constitutional documents.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary of the Company, Mr. Leung Cho Tak,
Joseph, was appointed on 30 August 2014. He is a full time
employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge
of the Company. The Company Secretary is responsible for
advising the Board on corporate governance matters. The
Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training in the year
under review.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors” or the
“Board”) hereby present their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries
are set out in note 1 to the financial statements.

Business Review

A review of the business of the Group during the Year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are
provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 5 to 6 of this
annual report and in the Management Discussion and Analysis
on pages 7 to 17 of this annual report. Description of the
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
can be found in Note 39 to the financial statements.

Results and Dividends

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2015 and
the Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 51 to 190.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil).

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total number of issued shares were held by the
public as at the date of this annual report.

Share Capital, Share Options and
Warrants

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital,
warrants, and share options during the Year are set out in
notes 28 and 29 to the financial statements.

Report of the Directors
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed
Securities of the Company

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities
during the Year.

Summary Financial Information

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from
the audited financial statements, is set out on pages 191 to
192. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

Distributable Reserves

The Company’s distributable reserves comprise the share
premium, other reserves and accumulated losses. As at 31
December 2015, the Company had distributable reserves of
HK$867,125,857 (2014: HK$269,506,383).

Major Customers and Suppliers

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for 90% of the total sales for the year
and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted
to 67%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 92% of the total purchases for the year and
purchases from the largest supplier included therein amounted
to 41%.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interests in the Group’s five largest customers
and suppliers.
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Directors
The Directors during the Year were:
Executive Directors:

Ms. Deng Shufen (Chairman)
Mr. Dai Yumin (President)
Mr. Gui Bin

Ms. Liu Jiangyuan

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Wang Yongbin (retired on 26 June 2015)
Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Fang Jun
Mr. Wong Yiu Kit, Ernest
Mr. Zhao Xianming

In accordance with Article 84 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Ms. Deng Shufen, Mr. Dai Yumin and Mr. Gui
Bin will retire from office. Ms. Deng Shufen, being eligible,
will offer herself for re-election, while Mr. Dai Yumin and Mr.
Gui Bin will, due to their respective intention to devote more
time to their personal affairs and commitments, not seek for
re-election, at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

Furthermore, in accordance with article 83 of the Company’s
articles of association, the office of Mr. Ho Kin Cheong Kelvin
(who has been appointed by the Directors for serving as non-
executive Director with effect from 11 April 2016) will end at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and,
he, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election.

Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers the INEDs to be
independent as at the date of this annual report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 18 to 20 of
this annual report.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No director has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Contract of Significance

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contract of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted during or at the end of the year.

Directors’ Interests in Competing
Business

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, no
Directors are considered to have interests in a business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing
Rules.

Emolument Policy

The emolument policy of the Group is determined with
reference to the performance, qualifications and experience
of individual employees (including Directors), as well as the
results of the Group and the market conditions. The Group
provides discretionary bonus, medical insurance, provident
fund, education subsidy and training to its employees. The
Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive
to eligible participants, details of which are set out below in
the section “Share Option Scheme”.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest

paid individuals are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial
statements, respectively.
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Directors’ Interests and Short Positions
in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company

As at 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions
of the Directors in the share capital of the Company and
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules adopted
by the Company, were as follows:
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Percentage
of the
Company’s
issued share

Number of capital
Shares (Note 2)
Name of interested HARATE BT
Substantial Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interests EEERN BANE DL
FTERRHES B EmtE BRoEA (Htit2)
Ms. Deng Shufen Interests of controlled corporation 3,499,233,889 53.99%
BOM S 22+ ZPEHIA R R (Note 1)
(HtaE1)
Interests of spouse 24,300,000 0.37%
P (B 4 o
Mr. Dai Yumin Interests of spouse 3,499,233,889 53.99%
BEHEE P (B 4 2 (Note 1)
(K15E 1)
Beneficial owner 24,300,000 0.37%
BEnfaE
Ms. Liu Jiangyuan Interests of controlled corporation 3,499,233,889 53.99%
BN =g = e NG Op - (Note 1)
(K1t 1)
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Notes:

These 3,499,233,889 Shares are registered in the name of
Sino Merchant, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands, the entire issued share capital of which is owned as
to 60% by Ms. Deng Shufen (the chairman and an Executive
Director of the Company) and 40% by Ms. Liu Jiangyuan (an
Executive Director of the Company).* Ms. Deng Shufen and Ms.
Liu Jiangyuan are deemed to be interested in all the Shares in
which Sino Merchant is interested by virtue of the SFO. As Mr.
Dai Yumin is the spouse of Ms. Deng Shufen, he is deemed to
be interested in the Shares which Ms. Deng Shufen is deemed
to be interested in for the purposes of the SFO.

In addition, Options were granted by the Company to Sino
Merchant pursuant to and upon completion of the Connected
Placing on 15 June 2015, which entitled it to subscribe for
up to 800,000,000 Option Shares (representing approximately
12.34% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
31 December 2015) during the period of 24 months from 15
June 2015 to 14 June 2017 at the exercise price of HK$0.26
per Option Share (subject to adjustment). On 2 July 2015,
Sino Merchant partially exercised the Options to subscribe
for 400,000,000 new Shares. As at 31 December 2015, Sino
Merchant remains the beneficial owner of, and was interested
in, 400,000,000 Option Shares. Accordingly, each of Ms. Deng
Shufen, Ms. Liu Jiangyuan and Mr. Dai Yumin is also deemed
to be interested in these underlying Shares held by Sino
Merchant for the purposes of the SFO.

* During the Year and up to 24 March 2016, the entire
issued share capital of Sino Merchant was owned as to
60% by Ms. Deng Shufen, 20% by Ms. Liu Jiangyuan
and 20% by Mr. Gui Bin (an Executive Director of the
Company). On 25 March 2016, Mr. Gui Bin transferred
his entire interests in Sino Merchant to Ms. Liu
Jiangyuan.

The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of
6,481,375,000 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2015.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, none of

the Directors of the Company or their respective associates

had registered any interests or short position in the shares,

underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as recorded in the register required to
be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified

to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code adopted by the Company.
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Other
Persons’ Interests and Short Positions
in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company

As at 31 December 2015, so far as is known to the Directors,
the following persons (other than the Directors of the
Company) had interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company, being 5% or more of the
total issued share capital of the Company, as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO:

(1) Long position in the Shares:
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(1) EBROWHER:

Percentage
of the
Company’s
issued share

Number of capital
Shares (Note 3)
Name of Capacity/Nature interested HARRD T E BT
Substantial Shareholders of interests BEEZN BABNE DL
TERRER B 5% EEME RHAEE (H53)
Sino Merchant Car Rental Limited Beneficial owner 3,499,233,889 53.99%
(Note 1) EnERE
EPHEBERAA
(Htet 1)
Dundee Greentech Limited Beneficial owner 789,500,000 12.18%
(Note 2) (f15#2) EnEEE
China Orient Asset Management Person having security 2,261,473,889 34.89%
Corporation interests in shares
FERSEEEENA RN BB SR AT
Sheng Yuan Securities Limited Person having security 1,100,000,000 16.97%

BIREHBRAT

interests in shares
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Interests in share options of the Company

In addition, Options were granted by the Company to
Sino Merchant pursuant to and upon completion of the
Connected Placing on 15 June 2015, which entitled
it to subscribe for up to 800,000,000 Option Shares
(representing approximately 12.34% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 December 2015) during
the period of 24 months from 15 June 2015 to 14
June 2017 at the exercise price of HK$0.26 per Option
Share (subject to adjustment). On 2 July 2015, Sino
Merchant partially exercised the Options to subscribe
for 400,000,000 new Shares. As at 31 December 2015,
Sino Merchant remains the beneficial owner of, and was
interested in, 400,000,000 Option Shares.

Notes:

(1) These 3,499,2383,889 Shares and the underlying
Shares referred to in the paragraph headed “Interests
in share options of the Company” above are registered
in the name of Sino Merchant, the entire issued share
capital of which is owned as to 60% by Ms. Deng
Shufen (the chairman and an executive director of the
Company) and 40% by Ms. Liu Jiangyuan (an executive
director of the Company)*. Ms. Deng Shufen and Ms.
Liu Jiangyuan are deemed to be interested in all the
Shares and underlying Shares in which Sino Merchant
is interested by virtue of the SFO. As Mr. Dai Yumin
is the spouse of Ms. Deng Shufen, he is deemed to
be interested in the Shares and the underlying Shares
which Ms. Deng Shufen is deemed to be interested in
for the purposes of the SFO.

* During the Year and up to 24 March 2016, the
entire issued share capital of Sino Merchant was
owned as to 60% by Ms. Deng Shufen, 20%
by Ms. Liu Jiangyuan and 20% by Mr. Gui Bin
(an executive director of the Company). On 25
March 2016, Mr. Gui Bin transferred his entire
interests in Sino Merchant to Ms. Liu Jiangyuan.

2) These 789,500,000 Shares are registered in the name
of Dundee Greentech Limited (a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands), the entire issued share
capital of which is held Mr Liu Hailong.

(3) The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the

basis of 6,481,375,000 Shares in issue as at 31
December 2015.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, no
person (other than the Directors whose interests are set
out in the section headed “Directors’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures
of the Company” above) had registered an interest or a
short position in the Shares or underlying shares of the
Company that was required to be recorded in the register
of the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

Share Option Scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”), which was approved by a written resolution of the
shareholders of the Company and adopted by the Board on
27 November 2009, for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group. The terms of the Scheme comply with
the requirements of the Listing Rules.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer option (the
“Options”) to subscribe for such number of shares in the
Company (the “Shares”) in accordance with the terms set
out in the Scheme to any proposed or existing director,
manager or other employee of the Group; any shareholder
of the Company; any supplier of goods or services to the
Group; any customer, consultant, business or joint venture
partner, franchisee, contractor, or agent of any member of the
Group; any person or entity that provides design, research,
development or other support or any advisory, consultancy,
professional or other services to any member of the Group;
and any associate of any of the foregoing persons.

The total number of securities available for issue under the
Scheme shall not exceed 60,000,000 Shares, being 10% of
total issued Shares as at the date of listing.

An offer of the grant of an Option shall remain open for
acceptance for a period of 28 days from the date of offer.
A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance
of the grant of an Option. The maximum entitlement of each
participant shall not in any 12-month period exceed 1% of the
Company’s issued share capital from time to time.

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in
the offer to a grantee, there is no minimum period under the
Scheme for holding an Option before it can be exercised.
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The exercise price is determined based on the higher of (i)
the nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the closing price of the
Shares on the date of offer; or (iii) the average closing price of
the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the date
of offer.

The Scheme has a life of 10 years and will expire on 26
November 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, no Option was granted
under the Scheme. In addition, there were no outstanding
Options under the Scheme as at 31 December 2015.

Share Options Under a Supply Chain
Management Agreement

On 11 August 2011, Perception Digital Technology (BVI)
Ltd. (“PDBVI"),
Company, entered into a supply chain management agreement

an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the

(the “Supply Chain Agreement”) with Teleepoch Limited
(“Teleepoch”) pursuant to which PDBVI, together with its
subsidiaries, will act as the exclusive supply chain partner
of Teleepoch for a term of three years. In consideration of
Teleepoch entering into the Supply Chain Agreement, the
Company entered into an option agreement with Teleepoch,
pursuant to which the Company granted an option to
Teleepoch, entitling Teleepoch to subscribe for a maximum of
15,500,000 shares of the Company (the “Upfront Option”),
representing approximately 2.5% of the then existing issued
share capital of the Company, at the exercisable price of
HK$0.38 per share. The Upfront Option was vested on
11 November 2011 and is exercisable in whole or in part
during the period from 11 November 2011 to 10 August
2016. In 2013, the Company completed an open offer
whereby the exercise price and the number of shares that
may be subscribed under the Upfront Option were adjusted
to HK$0.351 and 16,800,450, respectively. In 2014, the
Company completed another open offer whereby the exercise
price and the number of shares that may be subscribed under
the Upfront Option were further adjusted to HK$0.233 and
25,277,957, respectively.
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In addition to the Up Front Option, the Company also
conditionally granted to Teleepoch an option to subscribe for
0.285 shares of the Company (the “Performance Option”)
at the exercise price of HK$0.38 for every HK$1.0 of net
profit to the Company generated from sales orders placed
by the clients of Teleepoch (“Performance Benchmark”),
subject to a maximum of 46,750,000 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 7.5% of the then existing issued
share capital of the Company. On each anniversary date
during the term of the Supply Chain Management Agreement,
a portion of the Performance Option shall be vested and
become exercisable. The number of shares which Teleepoch
will be entitled to subscribe for pursuant to such vested
portion of the Performance Option shall be determined by
reference to the Performance Benchmark for the previous year
(the “Vesting Condition”). Subject to such Vesting Condition,
the Performance Option may be exercised in whole or in part
at any time during the period from 11 August 2012 to 10
August 2016. In 2013, the Company completed an open offer
whereby the exercise price and the number of shares that
may be subscribed under the Performance Option, subject
to the Vesting Condition, were adjusted to HK$0.351 and
50,672,325,
another open offer whereby the exercise price and the number

respectively. In 2014, the Company completed
of shares that may be subscribed under the Performance
Option, subject to the Vesting Condition, were further adjusted
to HK$0.233 and 76,241,580, respectively.

Details of the share options outstanding as at 31 December
2015 granted pursuant to the Supply Chain Agreement are as

follows:
Number of
share options
BREHE
At
31 December
2015
M=-Z—HE  Exercise price* Date of grant
+=A=+—H THEE* BHAH
25,277,957 HK$0.233 11 August 2011
02337 Z—T——F/\A+—H
76,241,580" HK$0.233 11 August 2011

0233%nx —ET—FN\A+—H
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G e N NN ) W = I e A )
Teleepoch#® ) B8 W # - 7] 5t &~ & A E
Teleepoch W% 2 M SHE ] E MBI & 1.0
BTN REER] - ®ITEE0.38E T
REC2BRARNA RN ([ RBBRE]) - L
IR 546,750,000 KRB 5 - HERAR

AERRACETRANTSN RN ERE
BHEnFHASER —F2B  —BOoHEK

WEREEEHFEE LA T171F - Teleepoch iR
BERABBRENZEZBI S BB ERENR

NEE  S2RE-FHXRREEMEE (B
B4 - EREREGREARRT - RIRE

RN —E——FNA+—HBHE-_ZT—RF
NAT+BHERERE2TSTDTE - RZF
—=F EBEBBRUEOHART AABTHA
FREE - Bt BERRERETTRENR
BITFEERENEEC DB AEZ0.351 8T
% 50,672,325 ik fn c RZT—MF - £H B
BHERBRRT ARRIEKS —HARBE -
Bt BBERAEREN TRENROITEE
EBROBEEDRE—FRHEE0.233F TR
76,241,580 BEA% (7 o

R-ZZE-—RF+-R=+—8 BEZHERE
e M RITRE RO IE AT -

Exercise period

TEER

11 November 2011 to 10 August 2016
—T——F+—A+t—-HBE-_E—X"ENA+H

11 November 2011 to 10 August 2016~
—Z——F+—At+t—HE-ZE—XENATE*

E-Rental Car Company Limited EfA B B 4FHES R A 7

o



@

Report of the Directors
EEEWRE

Notes:

* The exercise price is subject to adjustment in case of rights or
bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share
capital.

N The number of Performance Option and the period that the

Performance Option become vested and exercisable are
subject to the achievement of the Performance Benchmark.

Other Share Options

Pursuant to the completion of the Connected Placing on 15
June 2015, the Company has granted to Sino Merchant the
Options which carry rights to subscribe for up to 800,000,000
Option Shares at the initial exercise price of HK$0.26 per
Option Share upon exercise of such Options within the
exercise period commencing on 15 June 2015 (the “Initial
Issue Date”) and ending on the last day of the twenty-fourth
(24th) months from the Initial Issue Date (both days inclusive).
For more details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 27 March 2015 and 15 June 2015 and the
circular of the Company dated 28 April 2015.

Details of the Options outstanding as at 31 December 2015
are as follows:

Number of
Options
BREHA
At

31 December
2015
R=-ZB—-E1F
+=ZB=+—H

Date of grant
RHBH

Exercise price

T

HK$0.26
0.26 7T

15 June 2015
“ZE—HFA+HH

400,000,000

Warrants

The subscription price of the outstanding warrants was
adjusted from HK$0.12 per share to HK$0.11 per share as a
result of the Connected Placing. Details of which are set out in
the announcement dated 15 June 2015.

As at 31 December 2015, the subscription price of the

outstanding 152,795,454 warrants would be HK$0.11 per
share.
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“t+tHE-_E—RAFAAA+THREBHZAMEAR
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RZZE-—AF+ZRA=+—H " HARTEBER

Exercise period

T

16 June 2015 to 15 June 2017
ZE-AERNATAHEZZ—tEXATAA

o I R

HMATTERAREZRE 2 RBED ARERLESFE
MAEKR0A2ETABRESR011ET - &#15
HRABMR-_T—RFAAATRRAZRM -

RZTE—RAF+ZA=+—H 152,795,454
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Arrangements to Purchase Shares or
Debentures

Other than option holdings disclosed above, at no time during
the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any Directors or their respective spouses or minor children,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other
body corporate.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts

There has been no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to which the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director of the Company or an entity connected with
the Director is or was materially interested, either directly or
indirectly, subsisting during or at the end of the year.

Permitted Indemnity

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, subject
to the applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and
profits of the Company against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them may
incur or sustain in or about the execution of their duty in their
offices. Such permitted indemnity provision had been in force
throughout the Year and up to the date of this report. The
Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the directors and officers of the
Group.
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Equity-linked Agreements

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as
disclosed below, no equity-linked agreements that will or
may result in the Company issuing shares or that require
the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the
Company during the Year or subsisted at the end of the year.

Related Party Transactions

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2015 is disclosed in Note
36 to the financial statements.

None of the “Related Party Transactions” as disclosed in
note 36 to the financial statements for the Year constituted
discloseable non-exempted connected transaction or non-
exempted continuing connected transaction under the Listing
Rules.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Board believes that conserving the environment is
an important corporate duty. The Group commits to the
principle and practice of reducing, recycling and re-using. To
help conserve the environment, it implements green office
practices such as re-deployment of office furniture as far as
possible, encouraging the use of recycled paper for printing
and copying, double-sided printing and copying, setting up
recycling bins, reducing energy consumption by switching off
idle lightings, air conditioning and electrical appliances. The
Group also strives to maintain an eco-friendly fleet of vehicles

for its car rental business.

The Group will review its environmental policies and practices
from time to time and consider implementing further eco-
friendly measures, sustainability targets and practices in the
operation of the Group’s businesses to embrace the principles
of reducing, recycling and re-using, and further minimize our
already low impact on the natural environment.
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Compliance with laws, rules and

regulations

The Company encourages its employees to understand,
comply with and keep themselves abreast of the laws,
rules and regulations applicable to their positions and the
operation of the businesses of the Group as any violation
could jeopardize the integrity of the Group. The Company
has employed suitable personnel and engaged professional
advisers as and when appropriate to provide legal advice on
the applicability, existence or interpretation of any laws, rules
and regulations. The Board is not aware of any violation of the
applicable laws, rules and regulations that had a significant
impact on the business and/or operation of the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2015.

Relationship with employees,
customers, suppliers and business
partners

The Board recognizes the importance of fostering loyalty
and mutual trust with the Group’s employees, customers,
suppliers and business partners as this creates immense
long-term benefits for the Group. To achieve the above
purpose, the Board strives to promote constant and effective
communication, and resolve any issues efficiently. The
Board considers that the Group has overall maintained
good relationship with employees, customers, suppliers and
business partners for the operation of its businesses.

Corporate Governance

A report on the principal corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out on pages 21 to 32 of this
annual report.
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Auditors

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2015 have been audited by Ernst & Young, the auditors of
the Company. A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst
& Young as auditors of the Company will be proposed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting. There has been no
change in the auditors of the Company in any of the preceding
years since the Listing.

On behalf of the Board

Ms. Deng Shufen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2016
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Independent Auditors’ Report

e
EY::

To the shareholders of E-Rental Car Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
E-Rental Car Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries set out on pages 51 to 190, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
Our
report is made solely to you, and for no other purpose. We

consolidated financial statements based on our audit.

do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Company
and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015, and of their
financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

24 March 2016
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
mEBEmEk

Year ended 31 December 2015
BE_ZT—hF+-A=+—HItFE

2015 2014
—E-HF —F-F
Notes HK$ HK$
B o BT BT
REVENUE W 25 5 275,308,719 222,255,924
Cost of sales SHE AR (251,468,283) (205,345,437)
Gross profit EF 23,840,436 16,910,487
Other income and gains, net H At Ug A R W25 5 58 5 29,843,171 8,008,214
Research and development costs 3% K B B AR AR (1,507,783) (2,618,224)
Selling and distribution expenses SHE R D HAX (6,526,902) (14,613,513)
General and administrative expenses —mRRITHEA (39,680,435) (25,413,974)
Other expenses, net R (929,141)  (26,033,043)
Finance costs BhE A AR 6 (1,900,535) (118,608)
Share of loss of a joint venture Bl —REERAIEE (7,854,777) (2,154,466)
LOSS BEFORE TAX RREL AT BT R 7 (4,715,966)  (46,033,127)
Income tax expense Frisfim st 10 (2,862,369) (3,551,925)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FRER (7,578,335)  (49,585,052)
Attributable to: AR & 75 MG -
Owners of the parent HRRER A (7,578,335)  (49,585,052)
(Restated)
(#EE )
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BAREERBRESEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS EhERER
OF THE PARENT 11
Basic and diluted - YINE HK(0.14) cent HK(1.56) cents

AL

gl
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Consolidated Statement
mEZTHEWAE

Year ended 31 December 2015
BE_T—hF+-_A=+—HI&FE

of Comprehensive Income

2015 2014
—B-EHF —F-0F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FREE (7,578,335)  (49,585,052)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ Hith2mBA
(LOSS) (B#8)
ltems that may be subsequently reclassified HiEA[peEFHHDETIBR Y
to profit or loss: HHE :
Available-for-sale investment AEHERE
Change in fair value NEEEE) 1,187,400 =
Income tax effect Fristis & (118,740) —
1,068,660 —
Exchange differences on translation of RINETHIE H Z 58
foreign operations (282,671) 80,397
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal  H & [1/& 2 7] 8 B [& 5 5
of subsidiaries (2,797,029) —
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ FREMZERA(BE)
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX R & (2,011,040) 80,397
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR FARAEEERESE
THE YEAR (9,589,375)  (49,504,655)
Attributable to: AT %75 P4
Owners of the parent ISINEIEZZEPN (9,589,375)  (49,504,655)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

E B AR IR

31 December 2015

—F-AF+_HA=+—8

2015 2014
—E-EHF —ET—F
Notes HK$ HK$
B 5E BT BT
(Restated)
(&=75)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment =N 12 37,870,159 35,659,030
Goodwill EES 13 26,210,338 26,210,338
Intangible assets EWEE 14 68,670,000 68,670,000
Interest in a joint venture R—REERAMNER 15 10,163,742 7,845,534
Deferred development costs iR FE 5 B A AN 17 - 2,498,264
Long term deposits K 21 3,095,346 6,166,396
Available-for-sale investment AR ERE 16 39,987,400 —
Total non-current assets EMEBEELE 185,996,985 147,049,562
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 18 1,293,115 2,479,162
Trade receivables FEWLAR SR 19 250,161,834 212,973,874
Loan receivables FEUE 5k 20 111,835,710 =
Prepayments, deposits and TENRIE - Z2 Kk
other receivables H e IR RIR 21 460,929,350 79,312,367
Amount due from a joint venture FE—KE & QA FIRIB 15 - 5,842,767
Available-for-sale investment Al ERE 16 - 1,260,000
Tax recoverable Al iR [B] £ 18 206,638 —
Pledged bank deposit B RITER 23 18,794,078 —
Cash and cash equivalents HeMIREEEY 23 5,050,455 8,090,982
Total current assets MENE EBE 848,271,180 309,959,152
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade payables FETRR SR 24 34,305,597 34,801,378
Other payables and accruals H A & 5 508 I FE T RIR 25 15,583,694 86,048,115
Interest-bearing bank and other SRR REMEER
borrowings 26 26,109,159 8,386,341
Tax payable FERHIE 4,403,273 2,609,609
Total current liabilities BB EAE 80,401,723 131,845,443
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 767,869,457 178,113,709
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBARS
LIABILITIES 953,866,442 325,163,271

E-Rental Car Company Limited EfA BB 4FHESR A 7



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RE B AR R 3R
31 December 2015
—2-AF+-A=+—H

2015 2014
—E-EHF —E—FE
Notes HK$ HK$
M= BT BT
(Restated)
(#==51)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Interest-bearing other borrowings STEHMEE 26 5,404,574 5,311,104
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIBAE 27 17,594,788 17,911,028
Total non-current liabilities EmB B EE 22,999,362 23,222,132
Net assets BEFE 930,867,080 301,941,139
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners BARER AEGER
of the parent
Issued capital B 21T AR 28 64,813,750 40,813,750
Reserves i 30 866,053,330 261,127,389
Total equity AR 930,867,080 301,941,139
Deng Shufen Dai Yumin
M HEH
Director Director
EE EZE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

I—\/

mEEmEER

Year ended 31 December 2015

HE_Z—RF+_A=+—HLFE
Available-
for-sale
Share Share investment  Exchange

Issued  premium Capital Warrant option revaluation fluctuation Accumulated Total

capital  account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses equity

. y L ERE . 3

BRfRE  RORER ﬁmﬁﬁ %Eﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁé BRERE  EMRG ENRBRE  ZiA LiEs

Notes HKS$ HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS

fisk B B B B B B B B B

(note 30) note 28)  [note 29)
(Was0)  (Wies) (W)

At 1 January 2014 N-2-mE-fA-A 112,050,000 64,031,889 43823276  7,048243 1,859,529 - 2,785,048 (217918,622) 13,679,463

Loss for the year EhgE - - - - - - - (495585,052) (49,585,052)
Other comprehensive income ~ EMEM2ELRE :

for the year:
Exchange differences on ENSHOER
translation of foreign b

operations - - - - - - 80,397 - 80,397
Total comprehensive income/ iWiWﬁu/ (B#)

(loss) for the year ok = = = = - - 80,397  (49,585,062) (49,504,655)
Capital reduction s 28 (100,845,000) = - = = = — 100,845,000 =
lssue of shares &7k(p 28 29608750 316,155,450 - - - - - ~ 345,764,200
Share issue expenses e g 28 - (7997869 = = = = = - (7997869
Transfer of share option EREERS

reserve upon the expiry of EREREbE

share options - - - - (54,429) - - 54,429 -
At 31 December 2014 and nZE-[F

at 1 January 2015 JF:HE;[_E&

“E-R%-f-
A 40,813,750 372,189,470* 43,823,276*  7,048,243*  1,805,100* =*  2,865,445* (166,604,145)* 301,941,139
Loss for the year EQER - - - - - - - (7,578,335 (7,578,335)
Other comprehensive income ~ EREMZERE
for the year:
— Changes in fair value - ftHERE
of avallable-for-sale NTERE)
investment, net of tax Rk - - - - - 1,068,660 - - 1,068,660
— Release of exchange - HENBARR
reserve Upon disposal BOER&E
of subsidiaries 32(b) - - - - - - (2,797,029 - (2,797,029)
— Exchange differences — BONERMES
on translation of foreign £
operations - - - - - - (2826M1) - (2826M1)
Total comprehensive income/ iﬂﬂ%mﬁ(m/ )

(loss) for the year - - - 1,068,660 (3,079,700) (7,578,335)  (9,589,375)
Issue of shares ﬁ‘ﬂﬁxf’\ 28 24,000,000 508,000,000 - - 112,000,000 - - - ,000,
Share issue expenses Bh#IER 2 - (5,484,684) - - - - (5,484,684)
Release of capital reserve upon  HEHBAREER

dlisposal of subsidiaries ARG - - (3,646,306) - - - - 3,646,306 -
At 31 December 2015 RZE-1f

t-A=1-H 64,813,750 874,704,786* 40,176,970  7,048,243* 113,805,100  1,068,660*  (214,255)* (170,536,174)* 930,867,080
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZEREEBRERESHBARRER AN 4

HK$866,053,330 (2014: HK$261,127,389) in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

& f# #8866,053,330% L(= & — I F :

261,127,389/ 7T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AN A —|
,%/T\ (== Iﬁlﬁulb%%
Year ended 31 December 2015
BE-_ZT—hF+-_A=+—HItFE

2015 2014
—E-HF —ET—F
Notes HK$ HK$
Bt BT B TT
(Restated)
(&==7)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax R 75 Al s 18 (4,715,966)  (46,033,127)
Adjustments for: KUATSIERE :
Finance costs BEKA 6 1,900,535 118,608
Share of loss of a joint venture Eh—xREZEQREE 7,854,777 2,154,466
Interest income A B WA 5 (7,579,927) (272,972)
Waivers of other borrowings MEAMEE 5 - (1,883,536)
Depreciation e 7 12,137,073 3,351,508
Amortisation of deferred development 3 AIE [ B R A 42 6
costs 7 1,098,296 10,681,435
Impairment/write-off of deferred EIEF B AR E,
development costs P 55 7 - 4,883,863
Write-off of items of property, Y BE &
plant and equipment R A58 B 7 228,764 —
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEWE - BER
property, plant and equipment, HEEENER
net (Yas)F58 7 285,093 (107,040)
Impairment of trade receivables JE W BR OB (B 7 - 11,869,599
Impairment/write-off of other H R IERE
receivables Hif 58 7 298,159 5,426,590
Write-down of inventories to net WRTFEZRA &R
realisable value, net FEFRE 7 9,322 1,871,685
Write-off of a deposit MsHZ & 7 10,500 —
Write-off of materials i EE A 7 106,625 —
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries o E KB A B Ay Y ek 5 (2,982,161) =
Loss on early repayment of an other REEE—BHAM
borrowing BEREE 7 - 3,852,740
8,651,090 (4,086,181)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERD(38m) 966,351 (155,412)

Increase in trade receivables

Increase in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Increase in loan receivables

& W BR R AN

BNFIER - ke REME
YR IR S A

e & FRIE N

(39,578,835)

(380,775,574)
(109,470,000)

(138,254,486)

(73,255,415)

Increase/(decrease) in trade payables FERTERZRIE I, CRi ) 338,578 (52,457,132)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables Bt B A FRIB K FEETROR

and accruals #hn, Crl ) 3,858,118 (5,521,239)
Decrease in provision BEm L - (672,700)
Cash used in operations KEEEMTAR S (516,010,272) (274,402,565)
Interest received B FIE 5,172,893 —
Overseas taxes paid BB INE IR (851,794) =
Net cash flows used in operating LE RTINS

activities ik Bt (511,689,173) (274,402,565)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
an\ IEI@/}“JE%

Year ended 31 December 2015
BE_ZT—hF+-A=+—HItFE

2015 2014
—E—RHE —MF
Notes HK$ HK$
B oE BT BT
(Restated)
(#==751)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Disposal of subsidiaries HEH B A A 32(b) (7,303,206) —
Purchases of items of property, plant BEYE BEX
and equipment B (10,462,904) (5,857,356)
Proceeds from disposal of items of LEME - BERE&E
property, plant and equipment 1HH E’Jﬁﬁ@?ﬁ( 2,551,029 952,616
Acquisition of a subsidiary WiE—RMBAQ 31 (61,049,505)  (19,278,076)
Capital contribution to a joint venture H— %Q%@Tm§$&)\ - (10,000,000)
Increase in an amount due from a B —RE &R FZRIEEM
joint venture (4,330,218) (5,842,767)
Purchases of available-for-sale BEAHLERE
investments (39,544,600) (1,827,000)
Proceeds from disposal of an available-  H& Al HEREH TS
for-sale investment RIE 1,116,900 567,000
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank AR IRITIF 5K
deposit B (3G ) (18,794,078) 6,018,550
Interest received A S 41,324 272,972
Net cash flows used in HEEE TR

investing activities

REMEFE

(137,775,258)

(84,994,061)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RMETHNRESRE
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of shares BT FT1S F0E 28 644,000,000 345,764,200
Share issue expenses [&1n 8178 B 28 (5,484,684) (7,997,869)
New other borrowings EEMEER 18,612,360 —
Repayment of other borrowings* EEEMEE" (27,930,686)  (46,295,631)
New bank loans T RITE 19,065,000 -
Interest and bank charges paid BEF B RIRITHE (1,900,535) (118,608)
Net cash flows from financing activities B & R EIFT1S

e mEFHE 646,361,455 291,352,092

E-Rental Car Company Limited B8 BB ER R A 7
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

an\ IE:%/)H:E'%%

Year ended 31 December 2015
BE_T—hF+-_A=+—HI&FE

2015 2014
—2-EfF —F—MmF
Notes HK$ HK$
B 5 BT BT
(Restated)
(#EE7)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RE&RHELZEY
EQUIVALENTS WD FEE (3,102,976)  (18,044,534)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning E¥138& RIS HEY
of year 8,090,982 26,139,149
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [ER&B)g 2 %%
net 62,449 (3,633)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT HSX&BELRREZEY
END OF YEAR 5,050,455 8,090,982
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERREEEYWER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2
Cash and bank balances B& MIRTT4E 8 23 5,050,455 8,090,982
2 Including cash payments for the reduction of the outstanding BREEANBREEE AREEEMNLTHHERA

liabilities relating to arrangements which are in substance

finance leases.
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Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

E-Rental Car Company Limited (the “Company”)
(formerly known as Perception Digital Holdings Limited)
is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands. The address of the Company’s registered
office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
Company’s place of business in Hong Kong is located
at Suites 3101-3105, 31/F, Dah Sing Financial Centre,
108 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) was primarily
involved in the provision of car rental services; the
trading of electronic components/materials; the
research, design, development and sale of digital signal
processing (“DSP”) based consumer electronic devices/
platforms, including embedded firmware; the provision
of solutions/services for DSP-based consumer electronic
devices/platforms and financing services.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are

AR5 R R MY AL

31 December 2015
—2-AF+-A=t+—H

AAREEER

EHEEMEEERRQAR(XRA2H])
(RIS HBERAERAR D Z—H
RASHETMAINER AT - XA
A)FE 9% E R My HbIE & Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands ° AN A RIE R B & 3 B AL 7
BABTELTITB1085 A A L
311 3101-83105 % °

FRARAREMBRARSRENE
S8 DETERFRBETEHERS
BEEETFZMH /MHE UBERER
(IDSP) REREVEEE T4/ T4
(BRI ANBE )R - &R F#E
NIHE : REDSPAERHEBEE T2
M/ BMBBIRT R, RIS IA R 28R
% o

REWBEARNESR

ARBEZWMBRBFBENAT

as follows:
Percentage of
Place of equity attributable
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ to the Company
registration and registered PN
business share capital EiEEE DL
Name B A BRITEE/ Direct Indirect Principal activities
A% B e R A Ef [pikE TEEK
Ace Leader (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 = 100  Provision of financing services
BE(ER)ER AT 0 187 RESBRE
China E-Rental Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100 — Provision of trading of
Company Limited BB 18T electronic components/

materials and intercompany
management services
RHEEFZH/
MHZEHR
REBRHER RS
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2015
—T-mF+-A=t+-H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

1. 2AFAREEERE)

Percentage of

Place of equity attributable
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ to the Company
registration and registered v YN
business share capital EEEZEI T

Name B3I A BRITLE/ Direct Indirect Principal activities

A% AT R AR 3t B R A Ef Gk FEEK

E-Rental International Hong Kong HK$1 = 100 Trading of electronic

Trading Limited B 18T components/materials

BTSH/MHZES

PD Trading (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$2 — 100 Research, design

Limited BB 27T development and sale

of DSP-based consumer

electronic devices/platforms,

including embedded firmware;

provision of solutions/services

for DSP-based consumer

electronic devices/platforms;

and trading of electronic

components/materials

% - ®at - AER

HEERDSPHUHEE TEM/

Fa(BERARES)

REERDSPAEBETHEM,/

FAmBRAR/ R

AREFEH/MHEHE S

tRgLAEHEERER People’s Republic RMB5,000,000 = 100 Provision of car rental services

‘A7) (Beiling Tu An Car of China (‘PRC”)/  AR¥5,000,0007T REEE RS
Rental Services Limited)* Mainland China
REARLME
(THE ),/ HhEARkE

* This entity is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned * B AB RS EEEZMA NS

enterprise under PRC law and its statutory financial
statements are not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong
Kong or another member firm of the Ernst & Young
global network. The English name of this entity referred
to in this note represented management’s best efforts
in translating the Chinese name of this entity as no
English name has been registered or available.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,

result in particulars of excessive length.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for available-for-
sale investment which has been measured at fair value.
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 December 2015. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give
the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

2.1

AR5 R R MY AL

31 December 2015
—2-AF+-A=t+—H

RuE

AP BHRRDRIBBLEG A RM
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SR EA(TEBEER ] REE) &
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mEEE

REMBHRREBARRRENE QT
BE_T-—RAFt-_A=T—"HBLLEE
ZHBHRE - B RAREXARRER
AEEEHCER(BREBLER) -
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ENTEERRESZEAZERRD
HAAKEHEEZER ZEGEIR
R TASEESIRRETHBLRS 2
EN) e

anp

E-Rental Car Company Limited Ef BB AREE R A 7

@



o

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2015
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results of
the subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.
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2.1

2.2

Notes to Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
The Group’s share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit
or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised standards
for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.

Amendments to
HKAS 19 (2011)

Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
Contributions

Annual Improvements Project  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2010-2012 Cycle

Annual Improvements Project  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2011-2013 Cycle

The adoption of the above revised standards and
interpretation has had no significant financial effect on
the current year’s financial statements.

In addition, the Group has adopted the amendments
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited relating to the
disclosure of financial information with reference to the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) during the
current financial year. The main impact to the financial
statements is on the presentation and disclosure of
certain information in the financial statements.

2.1

2.2
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2015
—T-RF+-A=t+-8

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments®

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture’

Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception’

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in

Joint Operations’

HKFRS 14
HKFRS 15
Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38

Regulatory Deferral Accounts®
Revenue from Contracts with Customers?
Disclosure Initiative’

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation'

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41

Agriculture: Bearer Plants'

Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements'
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2012-2014 Cycle'

Annual Improvements Project

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2016

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018

s Effective for an entity that first adopts HKFRSs for its
annual financial statements beginning on or after 1
January 2016 and therefore is not applicable to the
Group

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs upon
initial application but is not yet in a position to state
whether these new and revised HKFRSs would have a
significant impact on the Group’s results and financial
position.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investment in a joint venture

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investment in a joint venture is stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of the joint venture is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and consolidated other comprehensive income,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the joint venture,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its joint venture are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investment in the
joint venture, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of the joint venture
is included as part of the Group’s investment in a joint
venture.

AR5 R R MY AL
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31 December 2015
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its an available-for-sale investment
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories and financial assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it arises.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

or

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(if) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(V) the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

(viij a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viiiy  the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase pr